I. INTRODUCTION 

 The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a “long 

line” of Washington Supreme Court decisions imposing an 

enhanced obligation of good faith on insurers.   

 Although the Court of Appeals’ decision is unpublished, 

its failure to call out PURE’s conduct as bad faith will have far-

reaching ramifications.  PURE Insurance will have no incentive 

to change its claims handling conduct; nor will other insurers 

which engage in similar conduct.   

 Review is   necessary to prevent wrongful denial of 

Washington homeowner claims resulting from insurer conduct 

that contravenes the good faith foundation of Washington 

insurance law “imposed on the insurance industry” by the 

Supreme Court and the Legislature.  Tank v. State Farm Fire & 

Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 386 (1986); RCW 48.01.030.1   

 

 
1 The case has drawn national attention due to its subject matter. 
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II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS 

 Petitioners David and Debra Simmonds, husband and 

wife, seek review. 

 

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 The Court of Appeals decision was entered on August 7, 

2023.  Appx. A-1.  Reconsideration was denied on September 5, 

2023.  Appx. A-24.  

 

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW  

       RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2) and (4) 

 

(1) Whether, under “[t]he duty of good faith … imposed 

on the insurance industry in this state by a long line of judicial 

decisions” which “the Legislature has imposed … as well,” 2  it 

is the insurer, PURE, or the insured, Simmonds, who is entitled 

to judgment on Simmonds’ bad faith, IFCA and CPA claims. 

  

 

 

 
2 Tank v. State Farm, 105 Wn.2d at 386.   
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(2)  Whether denial of Simmonds’ motions in limine gave 

them standing objections to the testimony, conclusions and 

qualifications of PURE’s “experts,” or were they “unopposed” 

because objections/challenges were not explicitly made at trial. 

(3) Whether PURE is permitted to satisfy its burden to 

prove an exclusion to a covered loss through speculation and 

conjecture when PURE and its expert acknowledged that an 

exclusion “could not be identified” and “was indeterminate” 

“without demolition” and “destructive testing.” 

(4) Whether a report and related testimony of   a 

designated lay witness involving opinions “within the scope 

of rule 702” are inadmissible under ER 701(c). 

(5) Whether an expert’s subjective-based “methodology” 

(“qualitative estimates…[which] are reasonable”) for which the 

expert is unable to provide evidence of acceptance in “the 

relevant scientific community,” and which is not “capable 

of producing reliable results,” satisfies Frye’s “threshold 

inquiry” as required under Supreme Court precedent. 
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(6) Whether the report and related opinions of experts, 

who admitted to inaccurate assumptions and the oversight of 

critical facts in arriving at those opinions, lacked required factual 

foundation. 

(7) Whether an expert’s report and related testimony are 

admissible under ER 702 when the “expert” admits to having 

only “a general understanding” of the very subject matter on 

which he opines as an expert. 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Hairdryer Incident 

 Appellants David and Debra Simmonds (“Simmonds”) 3 

are husband and wife residing in Redmond, Washington.  Since 

2013, their residence has been insured under an all-risks 

homeowner’s policy issued by respondent PURE Insurance 

(“PURE”).  CP 88:9-10.   

 

 
3 Depending on context, “Simmonds” refers to both David and 

Debra Simmonds as appellants and David Simmonds 

individually.   
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   In late-July 2018, Simmonds noticed what he thought 

was slight condensation within the glass block wall surrounding 

two sides of his primary bathroom shower.  He used a hairdryer 

on a bottom glass block to evaporate the condensation.  He left 

the hairdryer on and left the room.  After approximately 45 

minutes he heard a loud pop and noticed the bottom glass block 

had cracked.  The glass blocks are wavy and what Simmonds 

thought was condensation turned out to be hard water spots on 

the outside of the glass.  CP 90:20-26.  

 In early-August 2020, Simmonds noticed wet carpeting in 

his closet that shares a wall with the primary shower.  He 

removed an on/off handle cover plate and water sprayed out from 

behind the shower wall.  CP 88:10-23. 

 Simmonds went into the crawl space to see if water had 

leaked under the house.  He was able to locate the area under the 

shower when he saw puddles of water on the visqueen vapor 

barrier covering the crawl space ground.  When Simmonds 

removed insulation from the underside of the subflooring in the 
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area beneath the shower, he discovered extensive wood rot.   He 

reported the water leak and rot damage to his insurance broker, 

who filed a claim with PURE.  CP 88:11-25. 

 During a subsequent PURE inspection, it was determined 

that the leak causing the rot damage was not the shower handle 

as first thought.  The shower handle issue was very recent and 

had not caused any damage.  Rather, a second leak was 

discovered along the glass block wall on the opposite side of the 

shower.  CP 89:16-24.   

 Later that night, Simmonds recalled the cracked glass 

block that he had thought was cosmetic but which he now 

understood to be directly above the area the technician indicated 

as the location of the rot-causing leak.  He reported the hairdryer 

incident to PURE the next morning, and later that day provided 

PURE with photographs of     two cracks in the glass 

block.  CP 90:6-12. 

 After Simmonds reported the incident, PURE provided 

him with the inspection report from American Leak Detection 
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(“ALD”).  The report contained photographs, including the one 

below to which PURE, in a court filing, added the yellow circle 

indicating the location of the cracked block relative to the 

technician’s moisture meter reading.  CP 90:9-19.    

 

CP 236. 

B. PURE’s Denials of Simmonds’ Claim 

 

 PURE initially denied Simmonds’ claim in an August 17, 

2020 phone call from claims adjuster Shawn Roessler, CP 89:9-

12, and then again on September 2, 2020 in an email from 
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Roessler. CP 120-24.  PURE reaffirmed its coverage denial on 

October 27, 2020.  CP 162-64.   

 Simmonds challenged PURE’s denials citing overlooked 

Washington law and incorrect or unsupported factual statements.  

CP 89:12-15; CP 140-43; CP 391-97. 

C. Litigation History 

 Simmonds filed suit on April 5, 2021, alleging breach 

of contract and violations of Washington’s Insurance Fair 

Conduct Act and Consumer Protection Act. 

 On March 7, 2022, the trial court denied PURE’s motion 

for summary judgment on Simmonds’ contract claim, but 

granted PURE’s motion dismissing Simmonds’ bad faith, IFCA 

and CPA claims.  The trial court denied on procedural grounds 

Simmonds’ flip-side cross-motion for summary judgment, 

CP  699, and motion for reconsideration.  CP 548. 

 The case was tried to the court on April 4-6, 2022.  The 

trial court rendered its oral decision on April 6.  RP 408:18-

415:11. Simmonds filed a motion for reconsideration of that 
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decision on April 13.  CP 622-37.  The trial court denied 

Simmonds’ reconsideration motion on May 4, 2022.  CP 712. 

 Simmonds filed their appeal on May 23, 2022.  CP 695.  

Oral argument was heard on May 31, 2023.  The Court 

of Appeals entered its decision on August 7, 2023.  Appx. A-1.  

Simmonds filed a motion for reconsideration of the Court 

of Appeals decision on August 28, which was denied on 

September 5.  Appx. A-24. 

VI. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW 

[A]n insurance company has an elevated or 

“enhanced” duty of good faith … .    

…. 

That duty, as has been described by the courts of 

this state on several occasions, is a duty to exercise 

a high standard of good faith which obligates it to 

deal fairly and give “equal consideration” in all 

matters to the insured's interests. 

 

Van Noy v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 16 P.3d 574, 579, 

142 Wn.2d 784 (2001) (citing Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 386).  The 
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Court of Appeals’ affirmation 4 of the trial court’s summary 

judgment rulings and post-trial legal conclusions conflicts with 

“[t]he duty  of good faith [that] has been imposed on the 

insurance industry … .” Tank v. State Farm, 105  Wn.2d  at  386 

(citing “long list of judicial decisions” and RCW 48.01.030).  

A.  Roessler’s Call to Simmonds 

 On August 17, 2020, PURE claims adjuster Roessler 

returned to the office after an absence and learned of the rot 

damage.  Roessler then left a voicemail with Simmonds’ broker 

to give her “a heads up” that she was going to call Simmonds “to 

explain” that PURE “won’t be able to pay him for [the rot 

damage repair]” because “[i]t is definitely rotted and decayed, 

which, as you know, is specifically excluded.”  RP 179:12-19.  

 

 
4 The Court of Appeals deemed Simmonds’ multi-issue 

summary judgment appeal as “not properly briefed … to warrant 

review.” Appx. at A-16-17.   Simmonds sought reconsideration 

citing misapprehension of fact and law.  Appx. A-32-34.   
 

The effect of the Court of Appeals’ reconsideration denial 

is affirmation of the trial court’s summary judgment rulings. 
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Roessler then called Simmonds and told him that coverage was 

being denied because of the rot damage exclusion.  RP 179:7-23; 

251:17-252:11.  This all occurred within a few hours of Roessler 

first learning of the rot damage. 

 Roessler testified that, “Yeah, most likely” the claim 

would have been closed on that day had Simmonds not contested 

the coverage denial by raising the efficient proximate cause rule.  

RP 181:12-19.  Roessler admitted the efficient proximate cause 

rule had not been considered when she made her call to 

Simmonds denying coverage.  RP 208:18-209:3. 

 “[T]he efficient proximate cause rule remains an important 

part of Washington insurance law."  Xia v. Probuilders Specialty 

Ins. Co., 188 Wn.2d 171, 189, 393 P.3d 748 (2017).  PURE’s 

failure to conduct any investigation into the efficient proximate 

cause of the leak and rot damage before informing Simmonds the 

claim was being denied violated IFCA and the CPA. 

[I]t is an unfair practice for an insurer to deny 

payment of  a claim without first conducting 

a reasonable investigation. WAC 284-30-330(4). 



12 

 

 

Certification from the U.S. Dist. Court for the W. Dist. of Wash. 

in Krista Peoples v. United Servs. Auto. Ass'n,, 452 P.3d 1218, 

1220 (Wash. 2019).  See also, Anderson v. State Farm Mut. Ins. 

Co., 101 Wn.App. 323, 331-32, 2 P.3d 1029 (Div. 1, 2000) 

(single violation of WAC 284-30-330 or 350 constitutes per se 

violation of IFCA and CPA).   But for Simmonds’ familiarity 

with the efficient proximate cause rule, the claim would have 

been closed after that one call denying coverage without any 

investigation by PURE into the efficient proximate cause of loss.   

 Unquestionably, only a small percentage of Washington 

homeowners are familiar with the efficient proximate cause rule.  

Neither are most insurance brokers who serve as gatekeepers 

when contacted by homeowner clients about losses.     

 The critically important pro-insured benefit of the efficient 

proximate cause rule is that there can be coverage for a loss that 

is explicitly excluded under the policy.   

Under Washington law, … "‘[i]f the initial event, 

the "efficient proximate cause," is a covered peril, 
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then there is coverage under the policy regardless 

whether subsequent events within the chain, which 

may be causes-in-fact of the loss, are excluded by 

the policy.’" 

Xia v. Probuilders, 188 Wn.2d at 182-83 (citations omitted).  An 

insured’s assertion of this “important part of Washington 

insurance law” in disputing coverage denial should not be a 

prerequisite to an insurer’s obligation to investigate the efficient 

proximate cause of its insured’s loss. 

 Simmonds seek injunctive relief under the CPA.  PURE, 

and other insurers providing homeowner coverage in 

Washington, must provide clear policy language to advise 

homeowners of the rule and its effect.  Otherwise, losses for 

which there is coverage under Washington law will continue to 

be wrongfully denied or, in many cases, not pursued.   

 Similarly, the policy’s “sudden and accidental” coverage 

requirement is materially misleading to the detriment of 

Washington’s insured homeowners.  It must be modified to 

accurately reflect Washington law that interprets “sudden and 

accidental” as “unexpected and unintended” without 
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a “temporal” component.  Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Central Nat. 

Ins. Co. of Omaha, 126 Wn.2d 50, 91-95, 882 P.2d 703 (1994). 

 While not explicitly asserted as a basis for its coverage 

denial, interpreting the policy’s “sudden” language in the 

temporal sense clearly influenced PURE’s denial decision. 

RP 100:9-101:9 ("wasn’t sudden like the policy said it should 

be”). 

B. Roessler’s September 2, 2020 Coverage Denial 

(1) Defective Construction Exclusion as Catch-All 

 Citing Schneider’s ALD report, Roessler again denied 

coverage on September 2, 2020.  CP 120-124.  The stated basis 

for the denial was the policy’s “construction defect exclusion.”  

Schneider did not mention defective construction or improper 

installation in his report, but his reference to shower pan failure 

was enough for PURE to assert the exclusion.   

[T]ypically when we have a leak detection company 

that is telling us it’s a shower pan and we think it’s 

because of faulty installation, that is enough to 

support the coverage denial. 
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RP 160:10-13 (emphasis added).  Simmonds’ claim was denied 

on that basis, RP 161:22-162:6, notwithstanding PURE’s later 

admission showing that the “we think” component of its 

coverage denial was based on nothing more than speculative 

bias. 

With regard to the lack of a known specific problem 

with the pan liner, we agree that the specific 

problem with the liner and the way it was installed 

could not be identified without demolition of the 

shower. 
 

RP 195:18-25.  PURE’s admission is irreconcilable with the 

stated basis for its coverage denial. 

  (2) Schneider Unaware of Cracked Block 

 The shower was constructed in 1998.  Therefore, PURE 

had to eliminate the 2018 hairdryer incident as a possible cause 

in order to assert the defective construction exclusion.  In pursuit 

of that result, Roessler cited Schneider’s non-mention of the 

cracked glass block as his purposeful decision to eliminate the 

glass block issue as a possible cause.  (“[T]he ALD report does 
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not mention the breakage of or leaking of the glass as an issue,” 

CP 123: ¶ 4).    Simmonds   challenged   PURE’s   statement.  

[T]he ALD tech never considered the glass block 

breakage – or its cause – not because he did not 

think it to be an issue but because he didn’t know 

anything about it. [5] 

 

CP 401: ⁋ 4. 

 Not once – over the course of the next 18 months – did 

PURE simply ask Schneider if he was aware of the glass block 

cracks during his inspection or when he wrote his 

report.  CP 381:14-19.  Instead, PURE was indignant in its 

unverified speculation that he had. 

It is unreasonable to assume, as Plaintiffs do, that 

Mr. Schneider would not have noticed the cracked 

glass block during his inspection.   

 

CP 247:8-11, 251:4-6 (“difficult to believe” Schneider unaware 

of crack);  (“PURE understands that the fractured glass block was 

 

 
5 Simmonds had not mentioned the glass block incident to 

Schneider because Simmonds realized its related significance 

only after Schneider’s inspection.  Supra at p.6. 
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apparent and obvious [6] at the time of Mr. Schneider’s 

inspection.”).  CP 367:21-25 (emphasis added). 

 Contrary to PURE’s repeated insistence, Schneider 

testified: “I was not aware of any cracked glass blocks.”  

RP 277:5-12. 

  (3) Roessler’s Lack of Confidence in Schneider 

 When asked why she had not simply called Schneider to 

confirm the assumption she specifically cited as a necessary basis 

for denying coverage, Roessler testified that Schneider  

can tell me if something is leaking, and he can rule 

out plumbing lines and what; but [evaluating the 

hairdryer incident] would definitely   not    be 

something … that I would call him for. 

   

RP 158:12-16. 

 

 
6 PURE’s own expert testified otherwise. 

You know, the glass is pretty wavy and you have to 

have the right angle to see the crack.  So, it may 

show a crack on that flat spot, or that may be, you 

know, a reflection off the glass. 
 

RP 356:19-357:1. 
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 Notwithstanding Roessler’s lack of confidence in 

Schneider’s ability to conduct failure analysis, RP 159:21-160:5, 

(which she described  as    “figur[ing] out  …  why   something 

failed,” RP 222:16-20), Roessler cited her interpretation of 

Schneider’s ostensible failure analysis as the support for PURE’s 

construction defect-based September 2020 coverage denial.  

CP 123 ⁋⁋ 2, 3, 4.7 

  (4) Schneider’s Timeframe 

 In his report, Schneider gave a   timeframe estimate 

of “more than one year prior to my inspection [in 2020],” CP 316, 

which cannot reasonably be interpreted as endorsing a  1998 

construction defect.  PURE nonetheless tried:  

 

 
7  The Court of Appeals declined to address Simmonds’ appeal 

of the trial court’s denial of their motion in limine to exclude 

Schneider’s report and related testimony under ER 701(c), 

stating that “Simmonds provides no citation to authority or 

argument to support his position.”  Appx. A-18-19.   
 

 In fact, Simmonds cited 701(c) as it related to Schneider 

throughout their opening and reply briefs and devoted more than 

500 words specifically to their 701(c) argument.  Appx. A-28-

31.   
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Mr. Simmonds … has admitted that the construction 

of his house [in 1998] occurred more than a year 

prior to Mr. Schnyder’s [sic] inspection [in 2020]. 

 

CP 243:8-12.  Again, for obvious reasons, PURE never simply 

asked Schneider whether his “more than one year” prior to 2020 

timeframe meant 1998, as was necessary to support PURE’s 

defective construction-based coverage denial. 

C. The ARCCA Report – PURE’s Continuing Bad Faith 

 

 Although PURE’s September 2, 2020 coverage denial was 

explicitly based on Schneider’s failure analysis, PURE retained 

ARCCA because, as Roessler testified, Simmonds “graciously 

educated her” on Washington law, RP 208:8-10, and she did not 

consider Schneider qualified to “figure[] … out why something 

failed.” RP 157:20-158:16, 222:16-20. 

 Touting  itself  as  the  “preferred  choice”  of  insurance 

companies, CP 93:23-24, and advised in advance by PURE of its 

defective construction position and Simmonds’ challenges to that 

position, CP  287, ARCCA’s Kurt Ahlich conducted an 

inspection on September 29, 2020, and issued a report on 
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October 15, 2020. CP 330. In its letter to Simmonds dated 

October 27, 2020, PURE relied heavily on the ARCCA report, 

making specific reference to Ahlich’s timeframe determination 

in reaffirming its coverage denial.  CP 345: ¶ 3. 

 On November 2, 2020, Simmonds notified PURE of issues 

with the ARCCA report. CP 391-97.  Included among them was 

Ahlich’s purported ability to determine an accurate timeframe for 

wood decay.  Ahlich had narrowed the timeframe to between 4 

and 22 years prior to his inspection in 2020, which, 

coincidentally, would include defective construction in 1998 but 

exclude the 2018 hairdryer incident.  Simmonds cited the 

reported opinion of a U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest 

Products Laboratory expert specializing in the bio-deterioration 

of wood: “There is no way even to crudely estimate the rate 

of wood decay or its age.”  CP 393. 

 When asked by Simmonds to explain its disregard of this 

discrepancy (Ahlich had cited his timeframe as the basis for 
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dismissing the hairdryer incident, CP 334 ⁋ 1), PURE 

represented to Simmonds: 

We do not agree [with the U.S. Agriculture 

Department expert]. While we appreciate that many 

variables might affect wood decay and prevent an 

exact dating of rot, we rely on Mr. Ahlich’s best 

estimation based on his experience. 

 

CP 408-09 (emphasis added). 

Once again, PURE’s representation to Simmonds – its 

insured to whom it owed an ‘“enhanced’ duty of good faith”  – 

was not true.   

Roessler, who reviewed and approved PURE’s 

representation prior to its being sent to Simmonds, RP 194:19-

195:14, nonetheless testified she never discussed with Ahlich 

“any experience he may have had in estimating the duration 

of wood decay or wood rot,” and that she “wasn’t really relying 

on him to advise me of the age of wood rot.”  RP 198:16-24.   

Roessler’s testimony directly conflicted with her coverage 

denial in which she relied entirely on Ahlich’s timeframe as 

“confirm[ation]” of Schneider’s “investigation.”  
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Mr. Ahlich’s report confirms the previous 

investigation that the glass block was not the cause 

of the leak. The damage in fact is long-term, likely 

originating prior to the breakage of the glass block 

and stemming back to original construction. 

 

CP 345: ¶ 3.   

Ahlich aside, Roessler misrepresented Schneider’s 

“previous investigation.”  Far from determining “that the glass 

block was not the cause of the leak,” Schneider testified: “I was 

not aware of any cracked glass blocks.”  RP 277:5-12.  Moreover,

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