FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/3/2023 3:00 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1024436

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

David M. Simmonds and Debra K. Simmonds, husband and wife, Appellants

v.

Privilege Underwriters Reciprocal Exchange d/b/a PURE Insurance, Respondent

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory S. Worden, WSBA #24262
Sarah D. Macklin, WSBA #49624
LEWIS, BRISBOIS, BISGAARD & SMITH, LLP
1111 3rd Avenue, Suite 2700
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 436-2020
Gregory.Worden@lewisbrisbois.com
Sarah.Macklin@lewisbrisbois.com
Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Petitioners fail to address why review of the well-reasoned decision of the Court of Appeals should occur. Instead, Petitioners submit 38 pages of regurgitated *factual* argument failing to address how any of the determinations of the underlying courts conflict with any precedent in Washington or involve any issues of substantial public interest.

RAP 13.4 sets forth the considerations governing acceptance of review:

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

.

³¹ CP 996 (FoF 10-11).

³² The Court of Appeals did find some errors in the various finding of facts and conclusions of law but none required a change in the outcome of the trial.

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.³³

Petitioners do not address those considerations in their submission and the petition should be rejected.

A. The Petition Should Be Rejected Because the Primary Argument Presented Concerns Petitioners' Extra-Contractual Claims Which Were Not Properly Before The Appellate Court

Petitioners' primary argument focuses on the allegation that PURE acted in bad faith. Petitioners' extra contractual claims, including the bad faith claim, were dismissed at summary judgment in the trial court. The Court of Appeals citing *Holland v. City of Tacoma* noted that Petitioners did not adequately brief their arguments related to the summary judgment decisions and they were, therefore, not properly before the Court.³⁴

In this Petition, Petitioners do not contend that the non-consideration

131164307.1 7

³³ RAP 13.4(b).

³⁴ Op. at 17.

of the denial of his motion for summary judgment conflicted with any Washington decision. Nor did they raise any issue related to the granting of PURE's summary judgment. Petitioners had an opportunity to appeal that decision, failed to adequately brief it, and cite to no case law conflicting with the Court's decision not to address the merits of that issue. The petition fails on those grounds alone.

B. The Petition Should Be Rejected Because The Decision Of The Court Of Appeals Does Not Conflict With Any Decision Of The Supreme Court Or The Court Of Appeals

Petitioners only vaguely address either of the first two considerations for granting appeal under RAP 13.4. The vast majority of their argument sections (pages 9-36) do not contain a single citation to Washington law—let alone citations to any Washington law allegedly in conflict with the decision. Notably, Sections B (pages 14 – 19), the majority of Section C (pages 19 – 25), Section F (pages 31- 32), the majority of Section G (pages 32-35, with one exception), and Section H (pages 36 – 37) do not contain any citations to any cases. Simply, Petitioners have not argued and cannot argue that the decision by the Court of Appeals is in conflict with any Washington decision.

³⁵ Section D (pages 27-29) also does not contain argument related to an alleged conflict of law. Instead, it focuses on the courts' use of the word "unopposed." Petitioners misconstrue the courts' use of the word.

. -

1. The Instant Decision Is Consistent With Washington's Laws Concern An Insurer's Duty of Good Faith and Fair Handling

Petitioners contend, "The decision of the Court of Appeals conflict with a 'long line' of Washington Supreme Court decisions imposing an enhanced obligation of good faith on insurers." It does not. Petitioners' argument is based on two theories, and neither are convincing.

Petitioners' first argument fails because the trial court and the appellate court have both considered whether Petitioners' claim was wrongfully denied and the trial court, considering all the evidence, found that the coverage determination by PURE was correct.³⁶ The Appellate court affirmed this decision finding no reversable error. Petitioners do not substantively address the coverage determination in their petition and no prior Washington decision requires a finding of coverage.

Petitioners' claim that the investigation was not done in food faith is equally unconvincing. Petitioners cite only generally to the *Tank* standard (and its progeny) that an insurer has a duty of good faith.³⁷ Nothing in the

³⁶ Although Simmonds' extra-contractual claims were dismissed the court allowed evidence of a potential bad faith claim arising from the contractual obligations. Accordingly, the trial court allowed and considered significant claims handling evidence in reaching its verdict.

³⁷ See Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 105 Wn.2d 381, 386, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986)("The duty of good faith has been imposed on the insurance industry in this state by a long line of judicial decisions...Not only have the courts imposed on insurers a duty of good faith, the Legislature has imposed it as well..."); Van Noy v. State Farm, 142 Wn.2d 784, 794, 16 P.3d 574,

Court of Appeal's determination contradicts these standards. To establish the tort of bad faith, an insured must prove the insurer's actions were unreasonable, unfounded, or frivolous.³⁸

Petitioners argue that PURE's lack of knowledge of the efficient proximate cause doctrine was per se bad faith. They cite no case law supporting this argument—because there is none. Indeed, as the Appellate Court noted, the Petitioners did not, "provide any argument as to why the efficient proximate cause rule would apply given the evidence admitted at trial."39

Even so, this cannot be the basis of a bad faith claim under Washington law. When the efficient proximate cause doctrine was brought to the claim handler's attention, PURE retained coverage counsel and continued its factual investigation. An insurer alerting an insured to its initial opinion related to a potential exclusion (even if wrong) is not a declination of coverage or bad faith if, as it was here, that opinion was subsequently corrected and the insured suffered no harm or damages. Nor is telling an insured that is claiming rot damage that an unambiguous rot

^{579 (2001) (&}quot;an insurance company has an elevated or 'enhanced' duty of good faith which requires it to 'deal fairly,' giving 'equal consideration' to its insureds."(quoting Tank, 105 Wn.2d at 386)).

³⁸ Kirk v. Mt. Airy Ins. Co., 134 Wn.2d 558, 560, 951 P.2d 1124 (1998). ³⁹ Op. 14.

exclusion in the policy will preclude coverage an indication that the insurer is "predisposed" to deny coverage. If PURE had not investigated the efficient proximate cause doctrine after it was raised by Mr. Simmonds, then there may have been a basis for bad faith. But this did not occur and review should not be granted based exclusively on a hypothetical scenario not based on reality of this claim.⁴⁰

Petitioners also contend that alleged factual inaccuracies during the investigation amount to bad faith. The vast majority of issues raised by Petitioners are alleged factual inaccuracies that Simmonds did not raise during trial or are inconsistencies between trial testimony and prior statements that were not before the trial court. To the extent the disputed facts were before the trial court, and then Appellate Court, they were not convincing to either Court. Even if review was granted, which it should not be, it is not an opportunity for Petitioners to retry new evidence and argument related to conclusions of law and finding of fact from the bench

⁴⁰ CP 258 ¶¶16-18; CP 320-28. The determination similarly does not conflict with Washington's laws on the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") or the Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA"). See Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 187 Wn.2d 669, 684, 389 P.3d 476 (2017); Hangman Ridge Training Stables v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986).

⁴¹ See Pet. at 15-24 (Section B.(2) – (4), C., F., and H.).

⁴² Those not previously raised are waived. *Seattle v. Harclaon*, 56 Wn.2d 596, 597, 354 P.2d 928 (1960); *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn. 2d 299, 333-34, 858 P.2d 1056 (1993).

trial. 43 This Court "will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even though it may have resolved a factual dispute differently."44 The Court applies "a presumption in favor of the trial court's findings, and the party claiming error has the burden of showing that a finding of fact is not supported by substantial evidence."45 That is, courts review all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the prevailing party. 46

Accordingly, even if there were factual disputes, that is not a basis to grant review. Petitioners cite no legal authority to support their contention that assumptions made by an insurer during its investigation that may conflict with later discovered information but ultimately do not change the coverage conclusion or otherwise damage the claimant constitute bad faith. This includes Petitioners argument that:

- PURE assumed ALD investigator saw and considered the cracked block when he did not.
- PURE failed to give enough consideration to information they

⁴³ See Ridgeview Props. v. Starbuck, 96 Wn.2d 716, 719, 638 P.2d 1231 (1982); State v. Neff, 163 Wn.2d 453, 462, 181 P.3d 819 (2008) (review is "deferential" where "judge considered testimony"); Standing Rock Homeowners Ass'n v. Misich, 106 Wn. App. 231, 242-43, 23 P.3d 520 (2001)(review of bench trial limited to limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings and whether the findings support the conclusions of law).

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 879-80.

⁴⁵ Frank Coluccio Constr. Co. v. King Cnty., 136 Wn. App. 751, 761, 150 P.3d 1147 (2007); Panorama Vill. Homeowners Ass'n v. Golden Rule Roofing, Inc., 102 Wn. App. 422, 425, 10 P.3d 417 (2000).

⁴⁶ Korst v. McMahon, 136 Wn. App. 202, 206, 148 P.3d 1081 (2006).

provided related to pest control.

- Whether a PURE recalled making a certain statement

Petitioners argue these incorrect assumptions, and PURE's failure to verify, constitute bad faith. However, PURE's assumptions were reasonable and therefore complied with Washington bad faith law. The fact that these allegations did not have Simmonds' desired impact on the coverage determination does not mean that PURE did not consider the information or that its handling of that information was bad faith. Notably, Petitioners were free to introduce this allegedly conflicting evidence during trial to discredit PURE and its witnesses. In most instances Petitioners chose not to do so. Their strategic decision not to introduce conflicting information is not a viable basis for an appeal.

2. The Instant Decision Is Consistent With Washington's Laws Concern Expert Testimony under ER 702 and Frve

Petitioners next argue that Kurt Ahlich's testimony should have been excluded under ER 702 or *Frye*.⁴⁷ His testimony was properly allowed.

-

⁴⁷ Frye v. United States, 54 App. D.C. 46, 293 F. 1013 (1923).

"[U]nder ER 702, the trial court must exclude testimony from unqualified experts and testimony that is unhelpful to the jury." Testimony is unhelpful to the jury if it is unreliable, or lacks adequate foundation. Under ER 702, scientific evidence is admissible if it will "assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact at issue." [T]rial courts are afforded wide discretion and trial court expert opinion decisions will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such discretion."

"Under *Frye*, the trial court must exclude evidence that is not based on generally accepted science." Washington courts apply the *Frye* standard, asking whether "both the underlying scientific principal and the technique employing that principle find general acceptance in the scientific community." *Frye* excludes testimony based on novel scientific methodology until a scientific consensus decides the methodology is

_

⁴⁸ L.M. v. Hamilton, 193 Wn.2d 113, 118 128, 436 P.3d 803 (2019) (citing Lakey v. Puget Sound Energy, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 909, 918, 296 P.3d 860 (2013)).

⁴⁹ *Id.* (*citing Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, 181 Wn.2d 346, 357, 333 P.3d 388 (2014)).

⁵⁰ ER 702.

⁵¹ *Johnston-Forbes*, 181 Wn.2d at 352. Simmonds did not articulate any standard of review for the ER 702 rulings in their brief. The appropriate standard is, again, abuse of discretion.

⁵² L.M., 193 Wn.2d at 117 (citing Anderson v. Azko Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 603 260 P.3d 857 (2011)).

⁵³ City of Bellevue v. Lightfoot, 75 Wn. App. 214, 222, 877 P.3d 247 (1994).

reliable."54 In other words, *Frye* is implicated where "either the theory and technique or method of arriving at the data relied upon is so novel that it is not generally accepted by the relevant scientific community."55

Petitioners suggest the Court permitting Ahlich's testimony conflicts with the holding in Davidson v. Metro. Seattle in which the appellate court found an expert's testimony should have been excluded because it "lacked a factual basis." ⁵⁶ Ahlich's opinions did not lack factual basis. In Davidson an expert disregarded witness testimony in order to draw his own speculative conclusions about what a bus driver could have done to avoid an accident.⁵⁷ Here, Ahlich's opinions were based on his own testing, observations, and the conclusions and observation of others. Unlike the Davidson case, there was no conflicting testimony from any other expert (or witness).

Petitioners also argue Ahlich (and the other witnesses) should have been excluded because their testimony was impermissibly speculative.⁵⁸

⁵⁴ In re Det. of McGary, 175 Wn. App. 328, 339, 306 P.3d 1005 (2013).

⁵⁵ *Lakev*, 176 Wn.2d at 919.

⁵⁶ 43 Wn. App. 569, 719 P.2d 569 (1986).

⁵⁷ *Id.* at 575-578.

⁵⁸ Petitioners did not raise this argument during trial, and it was not properly preserved for appeal. Merely seeking to exclude a witness via a motion in limine on other grounds does not carte blanche preserve an appeal as to a separate unbriefed and unraised basis for exclusion. Petitioners' motion in limine as to Ahlich was limited to his opinions related to wood rot and did not discuss his other conclusions. Accordingly, while a filing a motion in

Petitioners argue Ahlich's conclusions were impermissibly speculative because he stated the precise "failure mechanism of this system was indeterminate" without tearing into the shower.

Ahlich's testimony does not contradict any Washington law. Experts need not testify with absolute certainty. Here, Ahlich met the required certainty to testify despite not being able to view the actual failure of the shower pan because it was covered by tile. There was more than theoretical speculation for Mr. Ahlich to base his testimony. He examined the shower and accompanying rot, conducted his own testing, spoke with Mr. Simmonds (and read his position on coverage), and read the ALD report before reaching his opinions. ⁵⁹ Petitioners' argument that until something can be conclusively proven it is speculative is not supported by any prior Washington decision. Allowing Ahlich's testimony did not contradict any Washington law. ⁶⁰

limine may preserve an objection for appeal on the issue briefed it does not apply to unraised arguments.

⁵⁹ CP 330-41; RP 343:16-347:17.

⁶⁰ Petitioners argue the PURE's witnesses were not "unopposed" citing language related to Motions *in Limine* preserving an objection. PURE reads the Court's use of the term unopposed as a substitute for uncontradicted. Not that Petitioners did not object to their admissibility—although the objection was not limitless as Petitioners suggest.

Finally, Petitioners' argument that allowing Ahlich's testimony violated *Frye* is unsupported.⁶¹ The Court of Appeals cited and applied the cases cited in the Petition. There is nothing *novel* about the opinions being offered by Ahlich (or the other witnesses).⁶² As our Supreme Court emphasized in *Lakey, Frye* is implicated only where the <u>scientific methodology itself is novel</u>.⁶³ There is no question that a civil engineer doing failure analysis and a materials expert opining as to the fragility and energy needed to crack a material are not novel. Similarly, there is nothing novel about dating wood rot. While *Frye* governs the admissibility of novel scientific testimony, the application of accepted techniques to reach novel conclusions does not raise *Frye* concerns.⁶⁴ Importantly, Petitioners offered no contrary evidence that Ahlich's statement that his methodologies and

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